1997

Michael O. Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corporation dab and fka Terracor; the City of St. George, and Robert L. Morgan, State Engineer of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), as a final order of a court of record over which the Utah Court of Appeals did not have original jurisdiction. On March 3, 1997, the Clerk of the Utah Supreme Court gave notice that this appeal had been transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals. The Utah Supreme Court has discretion to make such transfers under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4). Thus, the Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should the trial court's holding that Plaintiff/Appellant Michael O. Longley lacked standing to contest water right extension applications be reversed for denial of due process of law guaranteed to Mr. Longley by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 7, of the Utah Constitution, when the failure to obtain standing by timely protesting the extension applications was caused by the State Engineer's refusal to give Mr. Longley actual notice of the administrative proceeding after Mr. Longley--and *only* Mr. Longley--had specifically requested such notice and provided his name and address.

2. Should the trial court's holding that Mr. Longley did not have standing to protest extension applications be reversed when the failure to obtain standing by timely protesting the extension applications was caused by Appellees' failure to sufficiently describe new points of diversion of water and the diligence claimed in the published notice of the administrative proceeding as required by statute.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment for correctness, without deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. Summary judgment "is generally considered a drastic remedy."

Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178, 1181 (Utah 1993), and the appellate court "views all inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to finding a material issue of fact. Jackson v. Richter, 891 P.2d 1387 (Utah 1995); Beach v. University of Utah, 726 P.2d 413, 414 (Utah 1986). This Court "review[s] the trial court's legal conclusions, including its conclusion that the material facts are not disputed, for correctness." Kunz & Co. v. State, 913 P.2d 765, 768 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). This standard allows the Court to make its own conclusions and does not obligate the Court to defer to the trial court. Id. (citing State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994)); Brown v. Weis, 871 P.2d 552, 559 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENT V [Due process of law clause]:

No person shall . . . be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law . . . nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENT XIV, Section 1. [Due process of law.]:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; . . . deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

UTAH CONSTITUTION, Article 1, Sec. 7. [Due process of law.]:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 73-3-12(1):

(e)(i) The state engineer shall publish notice once each week for three successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the source of supply is located.

(e)(ii) The notice shall contain information that will inform the public of the diligence claimed and the reason for the request.

UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE CODE, R655-6-17:

B. Action on the Request [for Reconsideration]. Upon the filing of a Request for reconsideration, the Division shall review the Request and may within 20 days do any or all of the following:

1. issue any preliminary order;
2. summarily deny the Request, in whole or in part;
3. summarily grant the request, in whole or in part;
4. set a time for a re-hearing.

C. If the Division does not issue an order within 20 days, the Request shall be considered to be denied.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

This action has its origin in Change Application No. a-6393 ("Change Application") filed in 1970 with the State Engineer by Defendant/Appellee Leucadia Financial Corporation, dba and fka Terracor ("Leucadia") on two of its water rights. (Record on Appeal ("R.") at 161-62, 271-72.) The Change Application to move the point of diversion on those two water rights to six proposed new wells was approved by the State Engineer. Under Utah law, Leucadia had three years in which to make the changes approved under the Change Application and to file proof of completion of said changes with the State Engineer. (R. 161-62, 271-72.) Leucadia sought and properly obtained four extensions of this deadline from the State Engineer. (R. 161-62, 271-72.) The fourth extension, granted in 1985, was expressly conditioned upon it being the last extension and set November 30, 1989 as the final deadline for filing the required proof. (R. 40, 162.) The State Engineer's written decision clearly warned Leucadia that if such proof was not filed by

November 30, 1989, the Change Application would lapse. (R. 40.) On November 30, 1989, the very day of the deadline, Leucadia filed a false and unsigned Proof of Permanent Change ("Proof"). (R. 163.) In a Memorandum Decision issued on July 10, 1992, the State Engineer found that the facilities identified in the Proof did not exist and declared the Change Application to be lapsed. (R. 49-50.)

Leucadia filed a request for reconsideration of the lapsing of the Change Application but the State Engineer did not act on that request within the statutory time of 20 days allowed and the request for reconsideration was automatically denied on August 19, 1992 under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13.¹ (R. 52, 54, 164.) On August 20, 1992, the State Engineer purported to grant the request for reconsideration. (R. 54, 164.) The illegal grant of reconsideration was based on a statutorily defective fifth Extension Request filed 10 months after the November 30, 1989 deadline for such a request. Upon reconsideration on January 31, 1994, the State Engineer reinstated the Change Application and asked Leucadia to submit a properly completed fifth Extension. This occurred over four years after the November 30, 1989 final deadline on the Change Application. (R. 58-59, 165.) The State Engineer published notice of this fifth Extension Request in February of 1994, then republished in April of 1994 to correct some errors, but such re-published notice was still defective and inadequate. (R. 61, 165-66, 290.)

In 1989, Mr. Longley contacted the State Engineer's Office seeking to intervene in the matter to protest the extension approvals to protect his water rights. (R. 330-31, 353-54, 365, 515, 530, 556-57, 562-63, 565-67.) He specifically requested actual notice of any further action by the State Engineer. (R. 330-31, 353-54, 365, 515, 530, 556-57, 562-63, 565-67.) Subsequent

¹ All section references are to the Utah Code Annotated unless otherwise indicated. References to Title 63 are to the 1993 edition and references to Title 73 are to the 1989 edition.

to this request, Mr. Longley learned that the Change Application had lapsed. However, despite his request for actual notice and the intervening lapsing of the Change Application, the State Engineer's Office gave no actual notice to Mr. Longley of any subsequent action. (R. 330-31, 353-54, 365, 515, 530, 556-57, 562-63, 565-67.) Instead the State Engineer merely published notice of the Fifth Extension request in the local newspaper legal notices. (R. 61, 165-66, 290.) The deadline to timely file a protest to the fifth Extension Request was April 19, 1994.

Mr. Longley first learned of the reinstated Change Application and the fifth Extension Request thereon approximately one year later and immediately prepared and mailed a protest letter dated April 3, 1995. (R. 328.) The State Engineer *thereafter* granted the fifth Extension Request by a Memorandum Decision dated June 19, 1995. (R. 328.) While Mr. Longley was unable to timely file a protest due to lack of notice, he filed a timely request for reconsideration of that decision, but that request was denied by the State Engineer on the grounds that his initial protest was not timely. (R. 100-08, 109-12, 167.) Mr. Longley then sought judicial review by the District Court of the State Engineer's June 19, 1995 Memorandum Decision approving the fifth Extension Application. (R. 157-176.) The trial court granted Summary Judgment in favor of the Defendants, finding that because Mr. Longley did not participate in the administrative proceedings noticed only in the newspaper by timely filing a protest, he did not have standing to appeal the approval of the fifth Extension Request to the district court. (R. 534-38.)

B. Statement of Material Facts

1. This action relates to a water rights change application, Change Application No. a-6393, filed with the State Engineer by Leucadia in 1970 on two water rights in the Atkinville area south of the Virgin River. After this Change Application was approved, Leucadia had three years in which to make the proposed changes and file proof thereof with the State Engineer.

Leucadia thereafter sought and obtained from the State Engineer four extensions of this deadline.
(R. 161-62, 271-72.)

2. The fourth Extension Request was granted by a Memorandum Decision dated December 30, 1985, upon the express condition that "this shall be the last request granted and proof of appropriation shall be submitted on or before [November 30, 1989] or the application will be lapsed. Requests for further extension of time will be denied." (R. 40, 162.) (A copy of this Memorandum Decision is attached as Exhibit A in the Appendix.)

3. Mr. Longley contacted the State Engineer's Office in October or November of 1989 to ascertain the status of the Change Application and to see if he could intervene in any way at that point in time. Importantly, he also requested to be given notice of any further action on the matter. The State Engineer's office advised Mr. Longley, "a concerned developer in [the] Hurricane area," that the terms of the last Extension Request were contained in the December 30, 1985 Memorandum Decision. Mr. Longley provided the Office of the State Engineer with his name and address at that time. (R. 330-31, 353-54, 365, 515, 530, 556-57, 562-63, 565-67.) (A copy of the internal memorandum documenting Longley's request is attached as Exhibit B in the Appendix.)

4. On November 30, 1989, Leucadia filed a patently false and un-notarized Proof of Permanent Change (attached hereto as Exhibit C in the Appendix) stating that six wells with totalizing meters, 24,000 feet of conveyance lines, booster pumps, a pressure reduction box, a metering station, and a connection to St. George City's Quail Creek transmission line had been constructed. (R. 42-47, 163.)

5. On July 11, 1990, representatives of the State Engineer inspected the alleged facilities and found, *inter alia*, that there were "no wells equipped, no totalizing meters, no

pipeline. and no connection into the St. George-Quail Creek pipeline as stated in the proof. There is no evidence that water had been placed to beneficial use." (R. 49-50, 163.) (A copy of this report is attached hereto as Exhibit D in the Appendix.)

6. In a letter received September 21, 1990, Leucadia requested that the proof of appropriation previously submitted be withdrawn and that the State Engineer "consider [another] reinstatement and extension of time." A fifth Extension Request form allegedly accompanied that letter. (R. 56, 164.)

7. On July 10, 1992, the State Engineer issued a Memorandum Decision (Exh. D) ordering that the proof of appropriation be rejected and that the Change Application be lapsed for failure to comply with statutory requirements and to place the water to beneficial use. (R. 49-50.) This Memorandum Decision also contained a notice concerning appeal procedures and stated that when a request for reconsideration is filed, the "Request for Reconsideration is considered denied when no action is taken 20 days after the Request is filed." (R. 49-50.) This is in accordance with Subsection C. of Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-17. (R. 163.)

8. Subsection B. of Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-17 sets forth the scope of the State Engineer's authority when a request for reconsideration is filed and limits such authority to action taken within 20 days of the filing of the request for reconsideration. (R. 164.)

9. On July 30, 1992, Leucadia filed a request for reconsideration of the State Engineer's July 10, 1992 Memorandum Decision. (R. 164.)

10. The State Engineer's office sent Leucadia a letter (attached hereto as Exhibit E in the Appendix) on August 3, 1992 stating that request for reconsideration was received on July 30, 1992 and that "[i]f no action is taken within 20 days of the date the request was received in our office, the request is considered denied." (R. 52, 164.)

11. The State Engineer took no action on the request for reconsideration within 20 days of its filing. (R. 164.)

12. On August 20, 1992, the 21st day after the filing of the request for reconsideration and following a faxed communication for Leucadia's counsel urging action before the expiration of the 20 day period, the State Engineer belatedly issued a letter purporting to grant the already denied request for reconsideration. (R. 54, 164.)

13. On January 31, 1994, the State Engineer's Office returned the fifth Extension Request application form allegedly filed on September 21, 1990 to Leucadia as incomplete because the affidavit was not notarized. The transmittal letter (attached hereto as Exhibit F in the Appendix) notified Leucadia that it had 10 days "to return the extension request properly completed or the application will lapse." (R. 56, 164.)

14. However, without receipt of a properly completed extension request, the State Engineer issued an Amended Memorandum Decision on that same day, January 31, 1994, stating that because the proof had been withdrawn and an extension request had been received, that the July 10, 1992 Memorandum was rescinded and the Change Application was reinstated with a September 21, 1990 filing date and that the fifth Extension Request be processed anew. (R. 58-59, 165.) (A copy of the Amended Memorandum Decision is attached hereto as Exhibit G in the Appendix.)

15. Without any actual notice to Mr. Longley, the State Engineer had the fifth Extension Request prepared for publication beginning on February 3, 1994, also without even having a properly completed extension request on file. (R. 61.) Defects in that notice resulting in the notice being re-published in April, 1994. Protests were required to be filed by April 19, 1994. However, the second notice was also defective on several counts. The second notice failed

to state the diligence claimed by the applicant in developing the water and in placing it to beneficial use and it failed to state the reasons for the requested extension, both as expressly required by Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-12(1)(e)(ii). Furthermore, the legal descriptions of the proposed new diversion points were completely inadequate to give anyone notice of their location. The April 1994 published notice (attached hereto as Exhibit H in the Appendix) listed the "hereafter" diversion points as follows:

- (1) S 50 W 2531,
- (2) S 23+3 E 253 from NW Cor, Sec 25,
- (3) S 50 E 50 from NW Cor,
- (4) S 50 W 66,
- (5) S 23+3 W 50 from NE Cor,
- (6) S 23+3 E 297 from NW Cor, Sec 25, T42S, R14W

The legal description for diversion point numbers (1) and (4) have no reference to any monument or corner. There is no reference to a section number for diversion point numbers (1), (3), (4) and (5). Only diversion point number (6) references a township and range. Furthermore, a baseline reference, an essential element of any legal description, is not identified for any of the diversion points. (R. 165-66, 290.)

16. The fifth Extension Request form (attached hereto as Exhibit I in the Appendix) was re-filed on February 3, 1994 with the completed affidavit required by statute. This form shows on its face that the last proof due date was November 30, 1989 and that the form was first stamped received by the State Engineer's Office on February 3, 1994. (R. 166.)

17. The fifth Extension Request was protested by Hurricane City and Washington County Water Conservancy District prior to the protest deadline and by Winding Rivers Associates and Mr. Longley after the protest deadline, both claiming defective notice and that the Change Application had lapsed long ago. Mr. Longley's protest was sent on April 3, 1995 and

again requested notice of any further action. (The protest is attached as Exhibit J in the Appendix.) Mr. Longley's protest was also based on his belief that approval of the fifth Extension Request would impair his vested water rights. The Conservancy District's protest was withdrawn after a settlement agreement between the Conservancy District and Leucadia was signed. (R. 166.)

18. On June 19, 1995, the State Engineer issued a Memorandum Decision granting the fifth Extension Request. This Memorandum Decision recognized the two timely protests and the "late" protest of Winding River Associates but not the "late" protest of Mr. Longley. The Memorandum Decision did not expressly address any of the protests or the objections raised therein, including the jurisdictional, procedural, and notice defects or the substantive claims of impairment of existing water rights. The Memorandum Decision (attached hereto as Exhibit K in the Appendix) recites the statement in the 1985 Memorandum decision that any subsequent request for extension of time will be denied. (R. 85-87, 166.)

19. The sole basis cited for granting the fifth Extension Request was that the City of St. George had allegedly entered into an agreement to purchase the subject water rights if the Extension Request is approved. The Memorandum Decision specifically ordered that "This extension is approved only for use by the City of St. George to be used to meet the city's reasonable future needs and the right must be conveyed to the city, prior to November 30, 1996," the new proof due-date. (R. 85-87, 167.)

20. On or about July 5, 1995, a group of 34 individuals, a ranch, and Hurricane Valley Mutual Water Company filed a request for reconsideration of the June 19, 1995 Memorandum Decision. (R. 89-108, 167.)

21. On July 10, 1995, the State Engineer received Mr. Longley's request for reconsideration dated July 7, 1995 concerning the June 19, 1995 Memorandum Decision. (R. 100-108, 167.)

22. On July 19, 1995, the State Engineer sent out letters to those requesting reconsideration, stating in each case that they were not "aggrieved parties" because they had not been a party to the administrative proceedings. (R. 109-12, 167.)

23. Mr. Longley initiated this action on August 18, 1995 seeking judicial review of the State Engineer's action in this matter. (R. 167.)

24. The State Engineer's Office lost the entire file relating to the subject water rights, change application, extension requests, and protests thereto for a significant period of time in 1995. The State Engineer has admitted that it may not be possible to verify that the file, as recovered, was complete. (R. 333-37.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Longley has been denied the opportunity to protect his water rights by contesting the illegal fifth Extension Request of Leucadia's water rights application on the grounds that he did not timely participate in the administrative proceeding before the State Engineer. In other words, by failing to respond to the newspaper notice within the prescribed time, the trial court held that Mr. Longley lacked standing to appeal in the District Court. However, Mr. Longley did not file a timely protest simply because he was not given constitutionally or statutorily adequate notice that he needed to file one.

Because of the State Engineer's July 10, 1992 decision lapsing the Change Application and the automatic denial of Leucadia's request for reconsideration thereof, coupled with the fact that Mr. Longley--and only Mr. Longley--had given the State Engineer his name and address with

the request that he be contacted in the event of any action on the Change Application, the subsequent notice solely by newspaper publication of the fifth Extension Request was not constitutionally adequate under the due process clauses of both the United States and the Utah Constitutions. The published notice itself was also constitutionally and statutorily defective.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE ENGINEER'S FAILURE TO GIVE MR. LONGLEY ADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE FIFTH EXTENSION REQUEST VIOLATED CONSTITUTIONAL PRINCIPLES OF DUE PROCESS.

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