1997

Michael O. Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corporation, dba and fka Terracor; the City of St. George, a municipal corporation; Robert L. Morgan, State Engineer of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court properly granted summary judgment dismissing Longley's complaint because Longley lacked standing to seek judicial review of the State Engineer's Decision. Longley did not file a timely protest to Leucadia's Extension Request, and therefore, Longley was not a party to the administrative proceeding. Under Utah law, only parties who have participated in administrative proceedings are entitled to seek judicial review. By failing to file a protest with the State Engineer in a timely manner, Longley did not comply with the statutes and regulations governing administrative proceedings before the State Engineer. Participation in such proceedings is a condition precedent to seeking judicial review of the State Engineer's orders. By failing to satisfy the statutory condition precedent, Longley lacked standing to seek judicial review of the State Engineer's Decision by the district court.

Longley argues that his due process rights were violated because he requested and was not given actual notice of the Extension Request proceeding and that the published notice was inadequate. Longley's due process arguments are fundamentally flawed. A person is denied due process if a state action deprives that person of a constitutionally protected property interest. None of Longley's property interests, however, were at risk of being deprived or adversely affected in Leucadia's Extension Request proceeding.

Longley asserts that he owns water rights, which are a protected property interest. But in the administrative proceeding at hand, the State Engineer's action on Leucadia's Extension Request did not, and could not, deprive Longley his property interests in those water rights. Only Leucadia's water rights were at issue. Longley's water rights were not within the subject matter of the Extension Request proceeding and could not be adjudicated or adversely affected in any manner. Therefore,

Longley could not be deprived of his property interests by the State Engineer's grant or denial of Leucadia's Extension Request. In addition, Longley was not entitled to "actual notice by request" as a matter of constitutional law, statute, or regulation.

Longley also argues that "his cause of action to defend" his water rights in an extension request proceeding is a protected property interest. But such a "cause of action to defend" does not exist because, again, Longley's rights were not threatened or adjudicated in Leucadia's Extension Request proceeding. There was nothing for Longley to protect or defend against.

Finally, Longley argues that he was denied his "constitutional right to protest" and assert claims against Leucadia's Extension Request because Longley's water rights could be adversely affected. Again, as a matter of law, Longley's water rights could not be adversely affected in Leucadia's Extension Request proceeding. Furthermore, a right to protest an extension request is not a constitutionally protected property interest, but rather an opportunity afforded to the public to provide its concerns and viewpoints to the State Engineer as he determines whether a previously approved water right application or change application should be extended or lapsed.

The April 1994 notice fully complied with Utah law. The notice was published for three successive weeks in an appropriate newspaper. The notice correctly identified the nature of the proceedings and the water rights at issue. The notice informed the public of the diligence claimed and the reason for the request. The notice also correctly described the locations of the proposed additional points of diversion under the 1970 Change Application.

The notice provision in the extension request statute is consistent with the limited jurisdiction of the State Engineer under the statute. The notice provision is designed to provide general public notice of a pending extension request. As the State Engineer is the intended "protected party" under the notice provision, the notice provision is designed to ensure that the State Engineer is fully informed



in an extension request proceeding. Although the April 1994 notice strictly complied with the notice provision requirements, because the notice provision is designed to protect the State Engineer, not Longley, the April 1994 notice would have been adequate had it only substantially complied with the statutory notice provision requirements.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSING LONGLEY'S COMPLAINT BECAUSE LONGLEY LACKED STANDING TO SEEK JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE STATE ENGINEER'S DECISION.**

The basic issue before this Court is whether the district court properly granted summary judgment dismissing Longley's Second Amended Complaint. The complaint was dismissed because Longley lacked standing to seek judicial review of the State Engineer's decision. (R. 536.) Apparently, Longley has abandoned his standing claims on appeal, because he does not raise the issue in his brief. Except for a single assertion buried in an extended footnote at the end of his brief, Longley has not repeated the arguments regarding his right to seek judicial review based on his status as an "aggrieved person" or "aggrieved party." (*See e.g.*, R. 345-49.) The district court's grant of summary judgment was proper, however, precisely because Longley was neither an aggrieved person nor an aggrieved party.

Longley did not file a timely protest to Leucadia's Extension Request. (R. 166, 187, 273, 287, 330, 354.) Therefore, Longley was not a party to the administrative proceedings. Only parties (or persons) who have participated in administrative proceedings are entitled to seek judicial review. Section 73-3-14(1)(a) of the Utah Code provides:

Any person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer may obtain judicial review by following the procedures and requirements of Chaptr 46b Title 63 [of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act].

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a) (1989) (emphasis added). Under this statute, judicial review is conditioned on compliance with the procedures and requirements of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (“UAPA”). Likewise, the rules of the Division of Water Rights (the “Division”) also condition eligibility to seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer upon complying with the procedures and requirements of UAPA. Those rules provide:

Any party aggrieved by an order of the State Engineer may obtain judicial review by following the procedures and requirements of Section 63-46b-14 and 63-46b-15 [of UAPA] and 73-3-14 and 73-3-15.

Utah Admin Code Rule R655-6-18(A) (1995) (emphasis added). Clearly, judicial review is only available if the “person” (under the statute) or “party” (under the rule) follows the procedures and requirements of UAPA. The procedures and requirements of UAPA, however, further limit eligibility to seek judicial review. Under UAPA, only parties may seek judicial review of the State Engineer’s decisions. The UAPA provides:

A party aggrieved may obtain judicial review of final agency action, except in actions where judicial review is expressly prohibited by statute.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-14(1) (1995) (emphasis added).<sup>1</sup> UAPA further provides that “party” includes “all persons authorized by statute or agency rule to participate as parties in an adjudicative proceeding.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-2(1)(f). There is no statute that unconditionally authorizes Longley to participate as a party in the proceedings before the State Engineer. *See e.g.*, Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a) (conditioning the right to seek judicial review of a State Engineer decision on compliance with the procedures and requirements of UAPA). The Division rules, however, provide that “protestants” are authorized to participate as “parties” in proceedings before the State Engineer.

---

<sup>1</sup>Section 63-46b-15 of UAPA governs judicial review of informal adjudicative proceedings. All proceedings before the Division of Water Rights and the State Engineer, including change applications and requests for reinstatement and extension of time, are separate informal adjudicative proceedings. Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-2 (1995).

See Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-3(F). The Division's rules provide that protestants are only those interested persons who file their protest with the State Engineer on a timely basis, *i.e.*, within 30 days after notice of an application or extension request is published. See Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-12(1)(e).

Longley is not authorized under statute or the Division's rules to participate in the State Engineer's proceedings as a "party." Longley is not a "protestant" under the Division's rules because Longley did not timely protest Leucadia's Extension Request. Even if it is assumed *arguendo*, that Longley filed the alleged April 3, 1995 protest letter with the Division, he still is not a "protestant."<sup>2</sup> In that case, Longley still would have been more than 10 months late in protesting the Extension Request. Under Section 73-3-12(1)(f) of the Utah Code, Longley was required to file a written protest of the Extension Request within 30 days after the notice of the Extension Request was published. To be timely, Longley's protest had to be filed by May 14, 1994. (R. 273, 287, 290.) Because Longley concedes that he did not file his protest until April 1995, at the earliest, (R. 166, 187, 273, 287, 350, 354) clearly such a protest was untimely.

By failing to file his protest with the State Engineer in a timely manner, Longley did not comply with the statutes and regulations governing administrative proceedings before the State Engineer. Participation in the administrative proceedings before the State Engineer is a condition precedent to seeking judicial review of the State Engineer's orders. *S&G Inc. v. Morgan*, 797 P.2d 1085, 1088 (Utah 1990). By failing to satisfy the statutory condition precedent, Longley lacked standing to seek judicial review by the district court of the State Engineer's June 19, 1995 Memorandum Decision.

---

<sup>2</sup> Assuming for purposes of summary judgment the veracity of Longley's claims regarding the April 3, 1995 protest letter, there are no disputed material facts that are relevant to the district court's conclusion that Longley lacked standing to seek judicial review of the State Engineer's decision.

**II. THE PUBLISHED NOTICE OF LEUCADIA’S EXTENSION REQUEST WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY ADEQUATE IN AN INFORMAL ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING IN WHICH NO PROPERTY INTEREST OF LONGLEY WAS AT RISK OF BEING DEPRIVED OR ADVERSELY AFFECTED.**

The plain meaning of the due process clauses of both the United States and Utah Constitutions is that a person is afforded due process if that person is to be deprived of property. “No person shall . . . be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law. . . .” U.S. Const., amend V. “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.” Utah Const., art. 1, Sec. 7. Longley’s due process argument fails because no substantive interest of Longley was at risk of being deprived or adversely affected in Leucadia’s Extension Request proceeding.<sup>3</sup>

The prerequisites to the application of due process property protections are state action and a constitutionally protected property interest. *Gray v. Department of Employment Security*, 681 P.2d 807, 816 (Utah 1984). As the United States Supreme Court has observed, it must first be “determined that the Due Process Clause applies,” then “the question remains what process is due.” *Cleveland Board of Educ. v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532, 541 (1985). This appeal involves the State Engineer taking action on Leucadia’s Extension Request. In the Extension Request administrative proceeding, the rights of Leucadia under the previously approved 1970 Change Application were subject to being lapsed and were at risk. None of Longley’s substantive interests were involved or at risk in the administrative proceeding.

Despite the lack of a substantive property interest at risk in the proceeding, Longley erroneously contends that due process required the State Engineer to provide him actual notice of

---

<sup>3</sup> In analyzing a due process challenge based on both the United States and Utah Constitutions, this Court may decide the case under the Utah Constitution and need not reach questions of federal constitutional law. *Whitmer v. City of London*, 322 Utah Adv. Rep 43, 44 (Utah Sup. Ct. 1997). See also *West v. Thomson Newspapers*, 872 P.2d 999, 1004-07 (Utah 1994). Since this Court can decide this case under the Utah Constitution, this brief principally addresses Utah law.

Leucadia's Extension Request. Longley's contention totally fails under the analysis recently adopted by the Utah Supreme Court. To determine the procedural requirements of due process in any given context, three factors are balanced:

[F]irst, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the functions involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail.

*V-1 Oil Company v. Dept. Of Environmental Quality*, 317 Utah Adv. Rpt. 11, 13 (Utah Sup. Ct. 1997) (quoting *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976)). Also of significance is whether the nature of the proceeding is administrative or judicial. *Id.*

In this case we clearly have an administrative proceeding involving Leucadia's Extension Request; the private interest that will be affected is Leucadia's. No property interest of Longley will be affected or is even at "risk of an erroneous deprivation." The State Engineer's required determination in Leucadia's Extension Request proceeding does not adjudicate and could not adversely affect Longley's water rights. Furthermore, the "notice by request" procedural requirement promoted by Longley would be detrimental to a stable water rights system and unreasonably burdensome for the State Engineer who administers approximately 120,000 water rights in the State of Utah. (R. 390.)

**A. Longley's Water Rights Were Not At Risk of Being Deprived, Nor Were They Adversely Affected by the State Engineer in Leucadia's Extension Request Proceeding.**

Longley contends his vested water rights are protected property interests. As a matter of law, however, other water rights such as Longley's water rights, are not at risk of being deprived or adversely affected in an extension request proceeding. Accordingly, Longley is fundamentally unable to demonstrate how his rights are at risk or adversely affected by the State Engineer's action in

Leucadia's Extension Request proceeding.

**1. Utah's Water Administration Statutes and Policies Demonstrate that Other Water Rights Are Not at Risk of Being Deprived or Adversely Affected in an Extension Request Proceeding.**

The statutes and policies of this State, which are based on the prior appropriation doctrine, demonstrate that the water rights of other persons are not at risk or adversely affected in an extension request proceeding. The purpose of an extension request proceeding is to carry out state water policy, not to determine the water rights of the parties.

Beginning in 1903 for surface waters and 1935 for groundwater, an application to appropriate water is first filed with the State Engineer to obtain a water right. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1 (1989). However, the mere filing of the application does not give the applicant the right to use water. Among other procedures required by statute, notice of the application must be published in an appropriate newspaper. The State Engineer may then take action on the application pursuant to the criteria of Section 73-3-8 of the Utah Code. State Engineer approval of the application, however, is only a preliminary step and simply gives the applicant the authority to proceed and perfect, if possible, the proposed appropriation by actually diverting the water and applying it to a beneficial use. *Rocky Ford Irrigation Co. v. Kents Lake Reservoir Co.*, 135 P.2d 108, 113 (Utah 1943).

Under the prior appropriation doctrine, all applications are approved subject to the water rights of prior appropriators. The rights of prior appropriators are not harmed or affected in any way. As explained by the Utah Supreme Court in 1938:

Any application that is filed is subject to all prior rights which have accrued prior to such filing. Filing the application does not give the applicant the right or license to proceed to the injury of prior rights. He can proceed only upon an absence of injury to such rights if he hopes to perfect a right and be immune from liability. Legally, no one can be hurt by the procedure established by the Legislature. At the same time, however, it permits the development of our water resources to the utmost.

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